No. 71101-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILFRED A. LARSON

Respondent

V.



Appellants

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CITY OF BELLEVUE

CITY OF BELLEVUE OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY Cheryl A. Zakrzewski, WSBA No. 15906 Assistant City Attorney Attorney for Appellant City of Bellevue 450 – 110th Avenue NE Bellevue, WA 98004 (425) 452-6829

I. INTRODUCTION

This is a worker's compensation case governed by the Industrial Insurance Act, Title 51 RCW. Under RCW 51.32.185, firefighters who develop certain medical conditions are entitled to a rebuttable evidentiary presumption that the condition is an occupational disease. If the presumption applies, the burden shifts to the firefighter's employer to present evidence that the condition was caused by factors unrelated to the firefighter's employment. If the employer rebuts the presumption, the burden shifts back to the firefighter to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the medical condition is an occupational disease.

Wilfred Larson (Larson), a firefighter, developed malignant melanoma on his lower back. Larson claimed that he was entitled to the rebuttable evidentiary presumption under RCW 51.32.185 that his melanoma was an occupational disease. The Department of Labor and Industries (Department) allowed his claim. Larson's employer, the City of Bellevue (City), appealed the Department's decision to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board). The Board concluded as a matter of law that the City had rebutted the evidentiary presumption under RCW 51.32.185. The Board also found that Larson had failed to prove that his melanoma was an occupational disease. Accordingly, the Board reversed the Department's allowance of the claim. Larson appealed the Board's

denial of his claim to King County Superior Court (superior court) where a jury found that the City had not rebutted the presumption that Larson's melanoma was an occupational disease. The City appealed the superior court verdict and judgment.

The superior court erred in instructing the jury on the burden of proof and the issues to be reviewed. The superior court also erred in not allowing Larson to submit certain expert testimony, in excluding a medical witness offered by the City, and in awarding Larson attorney fees and costs. The City respectfully requests that this Court reverse the superior court judgment and enter judgment in its favor as a matter of law. Alternatively, the City requests that this Court reverse the jury's verdict and remand this matter for a new trial.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The City assigns error to the following decisions of the superior court:

- A. The superior court erred in allowing the jury to review a legal conclusion by the Board.
- B. The superior court erred in its instruction on the rebuttable evidentiary presumption contained in RCW 51.32.185.
- The jury's verdict is not supported by substantial evidence.

- D. The superior court erred in allowing Larson to present the testimony of Dr. Kenneth Coleman.
- E. The superior court erred in excluding the testimony of Dr. John Hackett offered by the City.
- F. The superior court erred in failing to give pattern jury instructions regarding the testimony of a treating provider, Dr. Sarah Dick.
- G. The superior court erred in awarding Larson attorney fees and costs.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Where the Board found as a matter of law that the City had rebutted the presumption of RCW 51.32.185, did the superior court err when it allowed the jury to determine whether the Board had correctly decided that the City had rebutted the presumption?
- B. Where an occupational disease is one that is defined as a disease which "arises naturally and proximately out of employment," did the superior court err in instructing the jury that the City had the burden of proving both (1) that the disease did not arise naturally out of the claimant's employment and (2) that the disease did not arise proximately out of the claimant's employment in order to rebut the presumption of occupational disease contained in RCW 51.32.185?
- C. Where the City presented substantial evidence showing that Larson's melanoma arose solely as a result of his exposures to ultraviolet light and genetic factors and thus rebutted the evidentiary presumption, should the jury's verdict to the contrary be set aside?
- D. Did the superior court err in allowing Larson to present the testimony of Dr. Kenneth Coleman who was not a qualified expert and whose testimony was hearsay?

- E. Did the superior court err in not allowing the City to present the testimony of the physician, Dr. John Hackett, who undertook an independent medical examination of Larson and whose testimony was not cumulative of other medical witnesses?
- F. Did the superior court err in not giving a pattern worker's compensation jury instruction which addressed the testimony of treating medical providers where the City offered the testimony of Dr. Sara Dick who was one of Larson's treating medical providers?
- G. In a case involving the presumption established under RCW 51.32.185, a prevailing claimant is entitled to recover reasonable attorney fees and costs associated with a successful appeal. If this Court reverses the superior court verdict, should this Court also reverse the superior court award of attorney fees and costs? Alternatively, if this Court does not reverse the superior court verdict, should this Court still reverse the superior court's award of attorney fees and costs and remand the matter to the superior court with instructions to calculate the award based on attorney fees and costs incurred only in connection with the superior court appeal as provided by RCW 51.32.185(7)(b)?

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Proceedings Before The Department And Board

Larson was diagnosed with malignant melanoma on his low back in 2009. CP 29, 281. Larson filed a claim with the Department alleging that his malignant melanoma was an occupational disease. Larson's claim for worker's compensation benefits was initially denied by the Department but later allowed. CP 45, 43. The City appealed the Department's

¹ CP refers the Clerk's Papers.

allowance to the Board. CP 40-41. The City moved for summary judgment before the Board, and the Industrial Appeals Judge (IAJ) granted the City's motion, dismissing Larson's claim. CP 51-517. Larson sought review of the IAJ's dismissal. CIP 519-520. The Board reversed the IAJ's dismissal and remanded the case for hearing. CP 550-552.

A Board hearing was conducted on June 14 - 15, 2012, and upon completion of the hearing, the IAJ issued a Proposed Decision and Order on September 17, 2012 denying Larson's claim as an occupational disease.

CP 26-35. In the Proposed Decision and Order, the IAJ concluded:

Wilfred Larson's condition, diagnosed as melanoma, did not arise naturally and proximately out of the distinctive conditions of his employment with the City of Bellevue Fire Department.

CP 29. The IAJ found that the Larson's condition of melanoma was not an occupational disease. CP 29.

Larson filed a Petition for Review of the IAJ's decision which was denied on October 11, 2012. CP 8-15; 4. Accordingly, the Proposed Decision and Order of September 17, 2012 became the final Decision and Order of the Board. CP 4. The final Decision and Order of the Board reversed the Order of the Department and concluded that the City had rebutted, by a preponderance of evidence, the statutory presumption embodied in RCW 51.32.185 that Larson's melanoma was an

occupational disease and found that Larson's melanoma was not an occupational disease within the meaning of RCW 51.08.140. CP 26-35.

B. Proceedings Before The Superior Court

Larson timely appealed the final Decision and Order of the Board to King County Superior Court. CP 1-2. The City moved for summary judgment, arguing that it had presented sufficient evidence to rebut the evidentiary presumption in RCW 51.32.185 and that Larson had failed to present evidence that his melanoma was an occupational disease. CP 1905-1922.² The superior court denied the motion. CP 1564-1565. The matter proceeded to trial on August 7, 2013. RP 4.³ Pursuant to RCW 51.32.115, the entire Board record was read to the jury except for testimony the superior court ordered stricken.

C. Testimony Offered By The City

The evidence read to the jury at trial included the testimony of three medical witnesses offered by the City – Dr. Sarah Dick, Dr. Andy Chien, and Dr. Noel Weiss. These witnesses testified that Larson's melanoma was caused by factors unrelated to his work as a firefighter, specifically his exposure to ultraviolet light (through sunlight and tanning beds) and his genetic risk factors (fair skin color, light colored hair, green eyes, freckles, and Scandinavian heritage).

² See Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers.

³ RP refers to the Report of Proceedings before the superior court.

Dr. Sarah Dick, Larson's treating dermatologist, testified that, more probably than not, Larson's malignant melanoma was caused by his exposure to ultraviolet (UV) from the sun. RP 730. Dr. Dick testified that both blistering sunburns and intermittent intense exposures to the sun increase the risk for development of melanoma. RP 727. She also testified that the risk of developing melanoma increases with age and that fair-skinned redheads and blonds are at higher risk of developing melanoma. RP 723; 729. Dr. Dick described Larson as in his 50s, fair-skinned and with reddish hair. RP 719.

Dr. Dick testified that Larson would have gotten melanoma had he never worked as a firefighter. RP 732. Additionally, Dr. Dick never advised Larson to cease working as a firefighter, and she testified that she would have so advised if she actually thought that working as a firefighter would increase his risk of redeveloping melanoma. RP 721.

The testimony of Dr. Andy Chien, a board certified dermatologist with a Ph.D. in molecular pharmacology and biological chemistry, was also read to the jury. RP 571-572. Dr. Chien is a leading researcher in the origin and treatment of melanoma and is a published author of articles and medical textbook chapters on cancer biology and melanoma. RP 573-574. Dr. Chien, an expert in the field of melanoma, maintains his expertise by staying abreast of the research related to understanding

the causes of melanoma, by conducting and leading his own research into the causes of melanoma, and by treating patients in his clinical practice.

RP 576-577.

Dr. Chien testified that it is widely accepted that melanoma is caused by exposure to ultraviolet (UV) light as well by a variety of complex genetic predisposing factors. RP 590-591. He testified that hair color, complexion, and light colored eyes have all been found to be predictors of melanoma risk. RP 591-592. Persons with red and blond hair are at the highest risk, along with persons with lighter complexions and/or green or blue eyes. RP 592. In fact, a person with blue or green eyes has a two to four fold increased risk of developing melanoma. RP 592. Significant numbers of freckles on the shoulder also increase the risk. RP 593. Dr. Chien further testified that melanoma is also most commonly found on the backs of men and is more prevalent in the Pacific Northwest than most other parts of the country. RP 607; 601.

Dr. Chien testified that research has determined that ultraviolet light, from the sun as well as tanning beds, is a known carcinogen for the skin in terms of developing melanoma. RP 602-603. He testified that intermittent exposure to the sun without sunburn can lead to the development of melanoma, as well as sun exposure on cloudy days. RP 601; 598. Dr. Chien further testified that sunscreen does not block all the

types of ultraviolet light. RP 597.

In light of the knowledge of medical science as it relates to the development of melanoma, Dr. Chien testified that, on a more probable than not basis, melanoma in a firefighter with Larson's background was caused by the firefighter's recreational exposure to ultraviolet radiation (in the form of sunlight and through the use of tanning beds) and the firefighter's genetic risk factors. RP 607-608. He testified that the work conditions of a firefighter like Larson would not have played a role in the development of the firefighter's melanoma and that a firefighter like Larson would have gotten melanoma even if he had never worked as a firefighter. RP 608-609.

The testimony of Noel Weiss, M.D., Dr.PH. was also read to the jury. Dr. Weiss is an epidemiologist at the University of Washington. RP 655. He has a medical degree from Stanford University as well as a doctorate in epidemiology and biostatistics from the Harvard School of Public Health. RP 655. As an epidemiologist, Dr. Weiss is trained in conducting and analyzing the various types of epidemiological studies. RP 656-657. Dr. Weiss has authored more than 500 peer-reviewed articles related to epidemiology. RP 656. He testified there is a wide variety in the types and significance of epidemiologic studies. RP 657-658.

3/12/2014 MED 17:10 LWV 477 475 1730 CON TEAT

Dr. Weiss testified that epidemiology is the study of the causes of disease. RP 657. Epidemiologic studies in themselves do not prove causation of any disease, but they may lead to inferences of possible causation if the results of numerous epidemiologic studies collectively are strong enough that they have a bearing on medical practice. RP 657, 658-659.

W. 1 U U J I U U I

Dr. Weiss testified that he was familiar with the medical literature which explored the possible relationship between occupational exposures as a firefighter and the development of melanoma. RP 660. It was his expert medical opinion, on a more probable than not basis that these studies did not show that firefighters were subject to an increased incidence of melanoma over the general population. RP 666-667.

The City offered the testimony of Dr. John Hackett, one of the physicians which had conducted an independent medical examination of Larson, both at the Board hearing and at superior court. Dr. Hackett's testimony was excluded both at the Board and in superior court. CP 845; RP 34.

D. Testimony Offered By Larson

The perpetuation deposition of Dr. Kenneth Coleman was the only medical testimony offered by Larson. The City moved both at the Board hearing and in superior court to exclude the testimony of Dr.

Coleman. CP 631-642; 1622-1631. The City asserted that Dr. Coleman was not providing expert testimony as defined by ER 702 as he was not qualified as an expert on melanoma nor epidemiology. Additionally, the City asserted that the testimony he offered was speculative in nature. CP 1627-1628. Both the Board and the superior court permitted Dr. Coleman's testimony.

Dr. Coleman is an emergency room and family practice physician who is board certified in family practice only. RP 409. He is not board certified in dermatology, oncology, epidemiology, or biostatistics. RP 516. Dr. Coleman admitted that he had no special training in the diagnosis or treatment of melanoma and has not conducted any research in the area of melanoma. RP 516. He is also an attorney who regularly consults in medical malpractice cases for plaintiffs. RP 515; 408.

Dr. Coleman never examined or even spoke to Larson and had no specific knowledge of Larson's alleged exposures to known carcinogens over the years. RP 519-521. He simply testified as to the contents of twelve (12) medical articles (dated from 1983-2007) regarding the causes of melanoma. RP 412.

During direct examination about these articles, Larson read quotes or select passages from the articles to Dr. Coleman and then asked Dr. Coleman if the quote or passage had been read correctly. RP 414-

415; 417-418; 419-420; 424; 425-426; 498-499; 501; 502-503; 504-505. Upon further questioning about these articles, Dr. Coleman offered generalized testimony as to the cause of Larson's melanoma. For example, Dr. Coleman testified that one of the articles "supports that for Captain Larson his exposure to these agents *would suggest* that as a cause" of his malignant melanoma. RP 425. He agreed that another article provided "*weaker but still plausible* evidence has linked firefighting to increased mortality risk for melanoma." RP 419-420. In discussing yet another article, Dr. Coleman testified that "this finding *suggests* that occupational exposure *may* contribute" to melanoma incidence in firefighters and that "this *may* be an association." RP 529.

Larson himself testified about his work as a firefighter. He became a firefighter/EMT with the City of Bellevue in 1979. RP 242, 267-268. He worked as a firefighter/EMT until 2010 when he was transferred to the training division. RP 263.

Larson testified that more of the calls to which he responded were for medical services (EMT) than fire suppression. RP 268. Anytime he responded as a firefighter, he wore his firefighting gear (pants, jacket, and boots) over his standard uniform. RP 278-279. He never worked without a shirt, and he cleaned his gear and took a shower as soon as possible after responding to a fire. RP 280-281. He testified that he

wore his self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) any time he felt he was at risk of exposure to fumes or other substances. RP 274. Larson was not aware of any instance where he was possibly exposed to dangerous chemicals or fumes while he was not using his self-contained breathing apparatus. RP 274-275.

Larson also testified that he had Finnish, British and Italian heritage. RP 241. His wife, Melody Larson, testified that he has greenish eyes and light brown. RP 323. He admitted to being fair skinned and having freckles on his face, head, arms and shoulders. RP 282; 322-323. Larson testified that he has the type of skin where he would turn red if he was out in the sun for a short period of time. RP 282. Because of his fair skin, Larson testified that he always felt he was susceptible to skin cancer and had his wife vigilantly check his skin. RP 300-301.

Larson testified that his melanoma was located on his back and above his pant/belt line in an area that would be exposed when he was wearing shorts or swim trunks and no shirt. RP 281.

He also testified that while growing up, he routinely spent summer weekends at a cabin owned by his grandparents at Lake Kachess, just east of Snoqualmie Pass, and that he also continued to go to Lake Kachess as an adult. RP 284-285. He would swim and engage in

outdoor activities while at Lake Kachess. RP 286. As an adult, he took weeklong summer trips with his wife and children to Lake Chelan in Eastern Washington for a period of over 20 years. RP 287-289; 319-320. At Lake Chelan, Larson also engaged in outdoor activities where he would not wear a shirt. RP 289; 304. Larson admitted to one of his treating physicians that he had sun exposure while at Lake Chelan. RP 300.

To prepare for these yearly trips to Lake Chelan, Larson testified that he used tanning beds to get some color in hopes of avoiding sunburn. RP 289-290. He would only wear shorts and a swimsuit while using the tanning bed and would tan both sides of his body. RP 290. He did not use sunscreen and occasionally got red from his use of the tanning beds. RP 291-292.

Larson admitted that his dermatologist, Dr. Sarah Dick, never told him firefighting was a cause of his melanoma and never told him to cease working as a firefighter. RP 282.

E. Superior Court Rulings

At the end of the testimony at trial, the City moved for a directed verdict asking that the court find, as a matter of law, that the City had presented a preponderance of evidence rebutting the presumption that Larson's melanoma was an occupational disease. RP 753-754. Larson

argued that in order to rebut the evidentiary presumption of RCW 51.32.185(1) the City had the burden to affirmatively prove that firefighting was not a cause of Larson's melanoma. RP 754. The superior court denied the City's motion. RP 754.

The jury returned a verdict finding that the City had not rebutted that Larson's melanoma arose naturally and proximately out of his employment as a firefighter. CP 1775. Larson moved for an award of attorney fees and costs seeking all the attorney fees and costs he had incurred both before the Board and in superior court. CP 1777-1784. The superior court entered judgment in favor of Larson and awarded him attorney fees and costs. CP 1900-1901; 1902-1904. The City timely appealed the judgment entered by the superior court.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review.

In an industrial insurance case, it is the decision of the trial court that the appellate court reviews. RCW 51.52.140 provides that an appeal "shall lie from the judgment of the superior court as in other civil cases." The appellate court reviews whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's factual findings. *Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999). The appellate court conducts a de novo review of

any questions of law that are raised on appeal. Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 92 Wn. App. 348, 353, 962 P.2d 844 (1998).

B. The Board's Finding That the City Had Rebutted the Presumption In RCW 51.32.185 Was Not A Finding of Fact To Be Reviewed By The Jury.

This is a workers' compensation appeal under RCW Title 51, the Industrial Insurance Act. Larson claims he developed an occupational disease under the terms of the Act.

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