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

plainly allocate the burden of persuasion in superior court to whoever is 

attacking the findings and decision of the board."). And, as noted, Raum 

shows that in cases involving the presumption under RCW 51.32.185, it 

remains the case that, once the presumption is rebutted, the party who 

appealed the Board's decision bears the burden of proving that the Board's 

decision was incorrect. 

Both the City and Larson presented testimony regarding Larson's 

employment and nonemployment exposures, and expert medical testimony 

regarding the cause of Larson's melanoma. The Board held that the City 
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"presented the preponderance of credible medical evidence demonstrating 

that Captain Larson's melanoma was proximately caused by specific 

factors unrelated to his work as a firefighter." CP 33. The Board found 

that Larson wore protective gear whenever he may have been exposed to 

chemicals or fumes, so did not have any distinctive work exposures. The 

Board also found he was fair skinned, with green/hazel eyes and many 

freckles, and had sun exposure on yearly trips to Lake Chelan, and to 

ultraviolet light in tanning beds, and did not use sunblock. These facts, the 

Board found, meant that the probable causes of his melanoma were his 

genetic factors and ultraviolet exposures, not his employment. CP 30-35. 

The Board's findings were presumed correct at superior court. Larson 

bore the burden of proving that those findings were incorrect. RCW 

51.52.115.4 

At superior court the trial judge should have similarly decided the 

threshold question of whether, as a matter of law, the City rebutted the 

4 RCW 51.52 .115 provides: "Upon appeals to the superior court only such issues 
of law or fact may be raised as were properly included in the notice of appeal to the 
board, or in the complete record of the proceedings before the board. The hearing in the 
superior court shall be de novo, but the court shall not receive evidence or testimony 
other than, or in addition to, that offered before the board or included in the record filed 
by the board in the superior court as provided in RCW 51.52.110 . . .. In all court 
proceedings under or pursuant to this title the findings and decision of the board shall be 
prima facie correct and the burden of proof shall be upon the party attacking the same . . 
. . In appeals to the superior court hereunder, either party shall be entitled to a trial by 
jury upon demand, and the jury's verdict shall have the same force and effect as in actions 
at law. Where the court submits a case to the jury. the court shall by instruction advise the 
jury of the exact findings of the board on each material issue before the court. 
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presumption. If the trial judge concluded that the City did not rebut the 

presumption, then Larson would prevail as a matter of law, and it would 

be improper to present the case to a jury. Conversely, if the trial judge 

concluded that the presumption was rebutted, the case would then be 

submitted to the jury to determine whether the preponderance of the 

evidence showed that the Board's findings (namely, that Larson's 

melanoma was not caused by occupational exposures) was incorrect. See 

RCW 51.52.115; Return, 171 Wn. App. at 152. 

Key to this process is that only the evidence the City produced is 

used in determining whether the presumption is rebutted. Here the jury 

first heard Larson's witnesses' testimony, including his expert medical 

witness, Dr. Coleman, and then heard the City's witness testimony. The 

jury was instructed to decide whether the presumption was rebutted only 

after hearing all the evidence. This prejudiced the City because the jury 

was able to use evidence presented by Larson to decide whether the City 

had rebutted the statutory presumption or not. It also illustrates why the 

jury should not decide whether the presumption is rebutted. Unlike a 

judge, a jury cannot be expected to disregard testimony for one purpose, 

and consider it for another seemingly similar purpose, unless properly 

instructed. Here the jury was given no instruction regarding the City's 

burden of production preponderance standard, as distinct from Larson's 
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burden of persuasion preponderance standard. Nor is it even likely that 

the jury would have understood these differing roles had it been properly 

instructed. At superior court the trial judge erred by asking the jury to 

decide whether the City rebutted the firefighter presumption. 

B. The Court's Instructions Erroneously Placed the Burden of 
Proof at Superior Court on the City 

Taking Instructions No.9, No. 10, and No. 12 together, the jury 

was given hopelessly confusing and contradictory statements regarding 

whether it was the City or Larson who bore the burden of proof on appeal 

to superior court, since the instructions informed the jury that the City 

bore the burden of proving that it rebutted the presumption (by showing 

that Larson's disease was not occupationally related) while Larson bore 

the burden of proving that the Board's decision was wrong (when it found 

that Larson's disease was not occupationally related). CP 1768, 1769, 

1771. Furthermore, the verdict form invited the jury to believe, 

incorrectly, that it was the City that bore the burden of proof at superior 

court, as the verdict form focused on whether the City had rebutted the 

presumption rather than on whether Larson established that his melanoma 

was an occupational disease, overcoming the Board's decision to the 

contrary. CP 1775-76. 
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Instruction No.9, in the first two paragraphs, refers to the 

presumption that the Board findings are correct, and that the presumption 

is rebuttable by "the firefighter" by a preponderance of evidence. 

However, the third paragraph refers to a presumption that the firefighter's 

condition is an occupational disease, and states that "the employer" was 

required to rebut this. Moreover, Instruction No.8, the WPI 6th 

WPI155.02 "Board findings" instruction, makes no mention of any 

presumption. CP 1767. The jury cannot decide whether a Board finding 

that is not before it is correct or not. The jury, at a minimum, was given a 

highly confusing statement, since the instruction directed them to presume 

both that the Board was correct that Larson did not have an occupational 

disease, and that Larson was correct that he did. The issue is further 

confused by the fact that the two presumptions relate to the same issue 

(whether Larson had an occupational disease or not) and directed the jury 

to use the same standard in deciding if the presumption was rebutted (a 

preponderance of the evidence). It is impossible to determine, on this 

record, whether the jury correctly believed that the burden was on Larson 

to establish that he had developed an occupational disease, or whether it 

incorrectly believed that the burden was on the City to establish that he 

had not developed one. Furthermore, the jury was not told how to 

reconcile these facially conflicting presumptions. 
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Instruction No. 9 is not only prejudicially confusing, its third 

paragraph, referring to the statutory presumption, is not legally correct. It 

refers to a presumption, rather than a "prima facie presumption." This has 

the effect of giving the presumption a conclusiveness that it does not 

enjoy. Raurn, 171 Wn. App. at 152 (RCW 51.32.185's presumption is not 

conclusive). Moreover, the RCW 51.32.185 prima facie presumption 

should have ceased to exist had the trial judge properly ruled on whether it 

had been rebutted or not. If the trial judge concluded that the prima facie 

presumption was not rebutted, then Larson should have won and no trial 

would be necessary. If the trial judge concluded that it was rebutted, then 

the presumption ceased to exist and the jury should have simply decided 

the question of whether Larson had proven that the Board's decision 

rejecting his occupational disease claim was incorrect by a preponderance 

of evidence. 

This confusion can only have been compounded by Instruction No. 

10, which, in the paragraph numbered one, refers to the City rebutting an 

"evidentiary presumption" by a preponderance of evidence, and by 

Instruction No. 12, which refers to an "occupational disease presumption." 

Instruction No. 10, although only a "contention" instruction, is legally 

t1awed because it was prejudicial error to introduce the question of the 

rebuttable firefighter presumption to the jury. It was not relevant and it 
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could only mislead the jury into believing that it had to determine whether 

"the Board incorrectly concluded that the City rebutted the evidentiary 

presumption that [Larson's] melanoma was an occupational disease by a 

preponderance of the evidence." CP 1769. 

Instruction No. 12 likewise implicitly instructs the jury that there is 

a presumption of occupational disease and that it needs to decide whether 

that presumption is rebutted where it states, "this presumption of 

occupational disease may be rebutted by a preponderance of evidence." 

CP 1771. The only rational conclusion that the jury could draw from 

Instruction No. 12 is that the City had to rebut this "occupational disease 

presumption" because it would make no sense for Larson to rebut his own 

claim of occupational disease. The special verdict form cemented this 

error by making the only question for the jury to answer whether "the 

employer" rebutted the presumption. CP 1775.5 Taken individually and 

as a whole, the instructions, along with the verdict form, incorrectly stated 

5 Bellevue did not specifically except to the giving of Instruction No. 12 or the 
verdict form but when prior rulings demonstrate that further discussion is not going to 
result in a change in confusing, erroneous instructions, or in an erroneous special verdict, 
a party cannot reasonably be held to have waived its right to assert error on appeal by 
engaging in what would be a useless act. Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 
498-99, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) . Likewise, participating in drafting on an issue in which 
one has already been ruled against does not waive the right to challenge that ruling on 
appeal and here the trial court was aware of Bellevue's disagreement with its handling of 
the rebuttable evidentiary presumption. See, e.g., Gamboa v. Clark, No. 30826-0-III, 
2014 WL 1225933 *3 (Wash . App. Ct. March 25, 2014). 
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the law when they allowed the jury to determine whether the burden of 

production was met. 

Finally, even assuming for the sake of argument that the jury could 

decide the issue of whether the City had rebutted the presumption that 

Larson's condition was an occupational disease, the jury should have been 

instructed that, in deciding whether the City had met its burden of 

production and rebutted the presumption, it should consider only the 

evidence presented by the City, and that it should not consider Larson's 

evidence until and unless it determined that the City had rebutted the 

presumption. Instruction No. 10 failed to advise' the jury of this, and, in 

fact, invited it to weigh Larson's evidence when deciding whether the City 

had failed to rebut the presumption. This was plainly error, as, in deciding 

whether the City met its burden of production, the jury could only 

properly consider the evidence presented by the City. And here, of course, 

no curative instruction would have negated the trial judge's failure to 

make the threshold determination regarding whether the case could go to 

the jury or not. 

C. The Trial Court's Errors Prejudiced the City by Allowing the 
Jury To Believe the Burden of Proof Was on the City 

Remand for a new trial is necessary here because the trial court's 

errors prejudiced the City. "Jury instructions are sufficient when they 



allow counsel to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and 

when read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable 

law." Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys. , Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851,860, 

281 P.3d 289 (2012). However, when instructions misstate the law, or 

when instructions read in conjunction with other instructions together 

misstate the law, it is presumed that this is prejudicial, and, therefore, 

reversible error. Hall v. Corp. of Catholic Archbishop of Seattle , 80 

Wn.2d 797, 804, 498 P.2d 844 (1972) (where instructions are inconsistent 

or contradictory on a material point, their use is prejudicial, because it is 

impossible to know what effect they may have on the verdict) ; see also 

Anfinson, 174 Wn.2d at 860. In particular, a remand is required when the 

wrong burden of proof is applied. Spring v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 96 

Wn.2d 914, 920, 640 P .2d 1 (1982). 

By itself, Instruction No. 9 constitutes reversible error because it 

referenced the City's burden to rebut the presumption that Larson's 

condition was an occupational disease, when, in fact, it was Larson that 

bore the burden of proof that his claim of occupational disease should 

have been accepted. This is a clear misstatement of the law, and is 

presumed prejudicial. See Anjinson, 174 Wn.2d at 860. Furthermore, 

even if the instruction is considered merely misleading rather than a 

misstatement of the law (since it referenced both Larson and the City's 
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burden of rebutting a presumption), prejudice is still shown because it 

plainly invited the jury to believe that the City had the burden of proof. 

Even assuming it was proper to ask the jury to decide whether the 

City met its burden of production by rebutting the presumption under 

RCW 51.32.185, the jury was not given guidance on how to apply the 

facially conflicting presumption that Larson both did and did not have a 

valid occupational disease claim. Nor was the jury informed that it could 

only consider the evidence presented by the City when deciding whether 

the City met its burden of production. The City was prejudiced because it 

had to rebut Larson's evidence, and not just a prima facie presumption. 

Nor was the prejudice created by instruction No.9 cured by any of 

the other instructions that were given. Even read as a whole, the 

instructions invited the jury to believe that the City had the burden of 

proof, that the jury could decide whether the City met its burden of 

production by rebutting the presumption under RCW 51.32.185, and that 

the jury could consider the evidence presented by Larson when deciding 

whether the City had met its burden of production. For the reasons 

explained above, these were prejudicial misstatements of the law, and, 

therefore, reversible error occurred. 

Finally, there is reversible error because the jury was gIVen 

responsibility for deciding a legal issue, namely whether the prima facie 
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presumption \vas rebutted, which was properly a question for the trial 

judge. Special verdict forms must also properly inform the trier of fact of 

applicable law and present an accurate issue to the jury for resolution. 

Capers v. Bon Marche, Div. of Allied Stores, 91 Wn. App. 138, 143-44, 

955 P.2d 822 (1998). 

Here, the jury could not have reasonably concluded that the City 

failed to rebut the presumption if, in answering that question, it had 

properly limited its consideration to the evidence presented by the City. 

The City presented evidence, through three medical witnesses, that the 

melanoma was caused by ultraviolet exposure (through sunlight and 

tanning beds) and his genetic risk factors (the physical features related to 

his Scandinavian heritage), and was not caused by firefighting . VRP 573-

77, 589-603 , 604, 608-09, 644-45 , 662, 664, 722, 724, 726-32 . Larson 

presented one expert witness who testified about 12 articles that he 

believed showed that exposure as a firefighter was a factor in causing 

melanoma. See VRP 412-30, 498-506, 508. The jury likely relied on this 

testimony to conclude that the firefighter presumption was rebutted. 

The trial court's instructions, were not only confusing and legally 

erroneous, the error was driven home to the jury by Larson's closing 

argument. Larson explicitly stated that Instruction No. 12 required the 

City to bear the burden of proving that Larson had an occupational 
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disease. VRP 911-13 . As the Capers Court pointed out, when errors in 

instructions, or in a special verdict fonn, are "made manifest by the 

inaccurate closing arguments" that is "prejudicially misleading" and 

requires reversal. Capers, 91 Wn. App. at 145. 

Here, the instructions erroneously stated the law and invited the 

very misstatements of the law that Larson made during his closing 

argument. In any event, the instructions were prejudicial as a matter of 

law because, together with the special verdict form, they directed the jury 

to apply an incorrect burden of proof, to answer a question as to whether 

the presumption under RCW 51.32.185 was rebutted that was not properly 

before them, and to consider the evidence presented by Larson when 

deciding if the City met its burden of production in rebutting that 

presumption. 

II 

II 

II 

27 



VII. CONCLUSION 

The trial judge erred in giving the question of whether the burden

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